S189275

TO THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

) Case No. E049135	
In re) G. B. Lies Gavenier Count	
WILLIAM RICHARDS) San Bernardino Superior Court) Case No. SWHSS700444) Criminal Case No.FVI00826	
Petitioner and Respondent,)) Related Appeal Case No. E024365	
On Habeas Corpus.) HALD WARM PERMANDED. SUPREME COURT	

PETITION FOR REVIEW

DEC 2 8 2010

Frederick K. Onition Clerk

Danite!

PETITION FOR REVIEW AFTER AN UNPUBLISHED DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEAL, FOURTH APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION TWO, FILED NOVEMBER 19, 2010, REVERSING THE GRANT OF A PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS

JAN STIGLITZ

ISSUES PRESENTED

I.

WHETHER UNFOUNDED EXPERT TESTIMONY LATER RECANTED BY THE EXPERT CAN CONSTITUTE "FALSE EVIDENCE" UNDER PENAL CODE § 1473(b)(1)?

II.

WHETHER THE *IN RE HALL* "NEW EVIDENCE" STANDARD SHOULD GOVERN A HABEAS PETITION BASED ON A CLAIM OF FALSE EVIDENCE UNDER PENAL CODE § 1473(b)(1)?

III.

WHETHER A COURT APPLYING THE IN RE HALL

"NEW EVIDENCE" STANDARD MUST CONSIDER THE CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF THE NEW EVIDENCE?

REASONS FOR GRANTING REVIEW

This case presents one question of first impression: whether expert opinion evidence can be false evidence under Penal Code § 1473(b)(1). If, so, this Court needs to determine whether its decision in *In re Lawley* (2008) 42, Cal. 4th 1231, was intended to change existing case law under Penal Code § 1473(b)(1) and apply the "new evidence" standard articulated in *In re Hall* (1981) 30 Cal.3d 408, to habeas claims based on "false evidence." Finally, this case shows the need for this Court to address the application of the new evidence standard and mandate that a court consider the cumulative effect of the new evidence presented. Accordingly, review is appropriate. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1).)

SUMMARY OF THE FACTS

In July of 1997, William Richards was convicted of killing his wife, Pamela. The evidence against Richards was limited and circumstantial. In the first two trials, which ended in hung juries, the prosecution relied on blood spatter evidence, the absence of evidence indicating the presence of a third party at the crime scene, and a tuft of blue fibers found in a crack of Pamela's fingernail which was similar to the fibers in a shirt that Richards had worn on the night of the murder. In the third trial, the prosecution, for the first time, introduced evidence which suggested that Richards was responsible for a bitemark found on Pamela and that only 2% of the population had a dentition (like Richards') which could have made that bitemark.

In December of 2007, Richards filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus alleging claims based on new evidence and false evidence. At an evidentiary hearing on the petition, Richards proved that the bitemark evidence was false

and that the statistics presented at trial had no factual basis. In addition, using new computer technology to correct for distortion, Richards proved that Richards could not have been responsible for the bitemark.

At the hearing, Richards also presented new evidence, in the form of DNA test results, which refuted the prosecution's claim that no one other than Richards and Pamela had been at the scene. Specifically, DNA test results showed that a two centimeter hair found under Pamela's fingernail – which was likely caught there during her struggle with her killer – came from someone other than Richards. In addition, DNA belonging to an unknown male was found on a paving stone the killer used as a weapon in the location that the prosecution suggested that the killer's DNA would be found.

Finally, Richards produced pictures of Pamela's right middle finger, both before and after the autopsy, which graphically demonstrated that a fiber attributed to Richards' shirt was not in the fingernail prior to autopsy.

After hearing all of the evidence and reviewing the transcripts from the underlying trial, the court concluded that the evidence presented created a "fundamental doubt ... as to the accuracy and reliability of the evidence presented at trial." (R.T. 481.¹) In addition, the court found that the evidence presented at the hearing undermined the "entire prosecution case" and that petitioner had met his burden of proof and had shown that the evidence presented "points unerringly to innocence." (2 R.T. 481.)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND CASE

The San Bernardino District Attorney charged Richards with one count

References to the record on appeal will be "C.T." and "R.T." References to the Augmented Clerk's Transcript will be designated as "A.C.T." References to the 1997 trial will be designated as "Tr. R.T." and "Tr. C.T."

of murder. Richards' first two full trials ended with hung juries. (2 Tr. C.T. 417-20, 474, 3 Tr. C.T. 871.) The third trial resulted in a conviction and life sentence, which was affirmed on appeal. (3 Tr. C.T. 923.)

On December 5, 2007, Richards filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus in the San Bernardino Superior Court alleging that false evidence was introduced against him at trial and new evidence showed that he was innocent. (1 A.C.T. 1-86.) Superior Court Judge Brian McCarville granted the petition after a contested evidentiary hearing. (4 C.T. 1147-1148, 1185.) On November 19, 2010, the Court of Appeal reversed.

A.

FACTS ADDUCED AT TRIAL

On August 10, 1993, Pamela Richards was severely beaten outside of her home with fist-sized rocks, manually strangled, and a cinder block and stepping stone were used to crush her skull. (3 Tr. R.T. 252; 5 Tr. R.T. 962.) The killer dropped a cinder block on her head, crushing her skull and creating blood spatter for a radius of fifteen feet. (3 Tr. R.T. 378; 5 Tr. R.T. 976.)

The Prosecution's Case: "It must have been Richards."

Right from the beginning, the police concluded that Richards was lying about what happened and the investigation focused on him.

On the night of August 10, 1993, Richards clocked out of work at 11:03 p.m. and drove home. (5 Tr. R.T. 867.) San Bernardino Deputy Sheriff Navarro recreated the drive home and determined that it would have taken forty-one minutes – suggesting that Richards arrived home at 11:47. (5 Tr. R.T. 867-72.) According to Richards, upon arriving home that night, he initially noted that no lights were on. (4 Tr. R.T. 645; 8 Tr. R.T. 1849.) Richards went to the shed and had a glass of iced tea. (8 Tr. R.T. 1849.) He then walked toward the trailer and saw his wife laying face down by the porch.

(4 Tr. R.T. 592.) He turned her over to see what was wrong and his fingers went into a hole in her head. (4 Tr. R.T. 592.) Richards cradled his wife and then he heard the phone. (4 Tr. R.T. 557.)

Eugene Price (Pamela's former lover) called and spoke with Richards at 11:55 p.m. (4 Tr. R.T. 557.) Thus, by the prosecution's time line, Richards had only 8 minutes in which to kill his wife. (4 Tr. R.T. 557; 6 Tr. R.T. 1382.)

Richards told Price that Pamela was dead. (4 Tr. R.T. 559.) Price told him to call 911. (4 Tr. R.T. 561.) Price characterized Richards as being stressed and in need of guidance. (4 Tr. R.T. 561.) Richards called 911 at 11:58 p.m. (2 Tr. R.T. 168.) Deputy Mark Nourse, arrived on the scene at approximately 12:32 a.m. (4 Tr. R.T. 580.)

Nourse testified that it was very dark when he reached the scene. (4 Tr. R.T. 584, 586.) Richards directed Nourse to the body and told Nourse Pamela was "stone cold dead." He also said: "she has been dead for a long time. I know that because the battery is dead on the Toyota." (4 Tr. R.T. 590.) Richards told Nourse he found the victim face down and he turned her over. (4 Tr. R.T. 592.) Nourse put on surgical gloves and checked the body. To his gloved touch, the body was "neither cold nor warm." (4 Tr. R.T. 636.)

Nourse did not investigate the crime scene. (4 Tr. R.T. 683.) Homicide detectives did not arrive on the scene until 3:15 a.m. (2 Tr. R.T. 228.) Because it was dark, the detectives did not process the scene until 6:00 a.m., more than six hours after the body was found. (1 Tr. R.T. 94; 2 Tr. R.T. 327.) In the interim, dogs entered the crime scene. (4 Tr. R.T. 642.)

Detective Parent and his team found the victim covered by a sleeping bag; she was naked from the waist down except for a pair of socks. (2 Tr. R.T. 232.) A twelve-by-twelve-by-two-inch stepping stone was found north of the victim. (2 Tr. R.T. 193, 230.) Criminalist David Stockwell tested genetic

markers from eight stains taken from this stepping stone, and all were the victim's. (4 Tr. R.T. 742-43.)

The prosecutor repeatedly elicited testimony and argued that no one other than Richards could have committed the murder because there was no evidence of anyone other than Richards and Pamela at the murder scene. (1 Tr. R.T. 62-65, 81; 2 Tr. R.T. 270, 274, 278; 4 Tr. R.T. 587; 7 Tr. R.T. 1669; 8 Tr. R.T. 1789, 1790, 1793, 1799, 1913-14, 1924, 1932.)

At the autopsy, before Pamela's right index and middle fingertips were severed and delivered to criminalist Daniel Gregonis, criminalist Craig Ogino received scrapings from Pamela's fingernails. (4 Tr. R.T. 698.) Ogino looked at the fingernails under a stereo microscope and never reported that a tuft of blue fibers was lodged in a crack in Pamela's right middle fingernail. (4 Tr. R.T. 699.) Material recovered from under the fingernails of the victim's right hand included a large amount of soil and blood, one tri-lobule synthetic fiber, one dark-blue wool fiber, one dark hair, and one blond hair. (4 Tr. R.T. 699-00.) At trial, Gregonis testified, "there is no hair that was consistent with anyone but Pamela Richards on Pamela Richards." (6 Tr. R.T. 1155.)

However, Gregonis classified a tuft of blue cotton fibers that *he* later discovered as relevant to the investigation, because he found it "jammed" in a crack in the victim's right middle fingernail. (6 Tr. R.T. 1256.) At trial, Gregonis testified this tuft of blue cotton fibers was indistinguishable from fibers in the blue cotton shirt Richards was wearing the night Pamela was murdered. (5 Tr. R.T. 922-25; 6 Tr. R.T. 1330.) Gregonis videotaped the removal. (4 Tr. R.T. 715, 918-19, 921-22; 6 Tr. R.T. 1251.)

Gregonis also testified regarding blood spatter found at the crime scene. He found 30 to 40 blood stains on the victim's pants and believed that twelve of these stains were from medium energy spatter. (5 Tr. R.T. 973-74, 977.)

No spatter was found on her legs. As a result, Gregonis opined that the victim was wearing her pants when her skull was caved in. (5 Tr. R.T. 977-78.) Gregonis also testified that a few spots that could be interpreted as medium energy blood spatter were also found on Richards' pants. (5 Tr. R.T. 1010.)

Gregonis also testified that there was "evidence of manipulation of the crime scene." (5 Tr. R.T. 1082-83.) When asked what evidence supported that claim, Gregonis referred to some alleged diluted blood. (5 Tr. R.T. 1083.) However, Gregonis never wrote about any alleged diluted blood in his notes and never mentioned his claim of diluted blood during the three prior occasions when he was called to testify. (5 Tr. R.T. 1083-84.)

Dr. Norman Sperber, the chief forensic dentist for San Diego and Imperial Counties, testified for the prosecution. (6 Tr. R.T. 1170.) Dr. Sperber testified that he examined a single autopsy photograph of the victim's right hand and identified a lesion which he concluded was a human bitemark made by the lower teeth. (6 Tr. R.T. 1170, 1172, 1177-78.) Sperber testified that the lesion had "a roundness only seen in bitemarks." (6 Tr. R.T. 1177.)

Dr. Sperber testified that the photograph was distorted because: (1) the photograph was not taken from an ideal position; and (2) the ruler used in the photograph was not in the correct position. (6 Tr. R.T. 1198-1200.) Dr. Sperber testified this "angular distortion" was "definitely a factor" in the certainty of his analysis. (6 Tr. R.T. 1199.)

Dr. Sperber opined that whoever left the mark had a distinctive abnormality relative to their lower right canine tooth and that Richards had the same distinctive abnormality, shared by "one or two or less" out of one hundred people. (6 Tr. R.T. 1202-03, 1212-13.) Dr. Sperber testified that Richards' abnormal tooth (tooth number 27) would not leave a mark on the skin because it was shorter than his other teeth and that the bitemark was

consistent with Richards' teeth. (6 Tr. R.T. 1214.)

Sergeant Bradford testified that the day after the murder, investigators took pictures of Richards and collected all the clothes he was wearing the night his wife was killed. (4 Tr. R.T. 793-94, 796.) They also took pictures of Richards' hands. (4 Tr. R.T. 798-801.) No indications of cuts, abrasions, or wounds were found on Richards. (4 Tr. R.T. 813-15.)

Dr. Frank Sheridan, Chief Medical Examiner, testified he performed an autopsy on August 13, 1993. (3 Tr. R.T. 346, 359.) Sheridan testified Pamela had suffered extensive blunt force trauma to the face and several defensive wounds. (3 Tr. R.T. 356, 360.) He opined that the victim had been manually strangled and suffered blunt force trauma to her skull, either of which could have been fatal. (3 Tr. R.T. 362, 365, 373, 375, 377.) Dr. Sheridan gave no opinion as to time of death. (3 Tr. R.T. 431.)

Dr. Sheridan found pronounced marks on Pamela's buttocks area from pebbles, indicating she had been lying on her back for some time after she had died. (3 Tr. R.T. 409-10.) He could not say she had died in that position. (3 Tr. R.T. 410.) He did not find similar marks on her breasts. (3 Tr. R.T. 412.)

Dr. Sheridan found evidence of lividity on Pamela's back. (3 Tr. R.T. 393.) According to Dr. Sheridan, it usually takes at least two hours for lividity to become obvious and it becomes fixed at six to ten hours. (3 Tr. R.T. 394, 397.) These findings are consistent with Richards' claim that he found Pamela on her stomach and then rolled her over. (4 Tr. R.T. 592.)

The prosecution also introduced evidence suggesting that Richards and Pamela were having financial and marital problems.

Defense Case: Shoddy Police Work and Inconsistent Evidence

Dr. David Thomas testified that it was difficult to estimate a precise time of death because tests routinely conducted to aid in that determination

were never conducted. (7 Tr. R.T. 1408-11, 1467.)

Officers also failed to investigate clues that could have established a clearer time line. They did not feel the hood of the victim's car, although the driver's door was ajar (2 Tr. R.T. 318, 521), and Richards told the police the car's battery was dead (4 Tr. R.T. 590). They did not feel the generator to determine if it had been in use, although the generator was the only source of electricity, and the victim would have started the generator had she been alive after dark. (2 Tr. R.T. 295; 4 Tr. R.T. 521, 530.) Officers also failed to fingerprint the cars, the inside of the home, the shed, or two smooth fist sized rocks used to strike the victim. (2 Tr. R.T. 318, 338.) They did not swab the bitemark in order to test for DNA from the biter's saliva. (6 Tr. R.T. 1151.)

Richards hired a private investigator who made three trips recreating the route Richards would have used when returning home from work. According to the investigator, if Richards had driven home at 65 mph, he would have arrived home at 11:54 p.m., just before Price's call. (6 Tr. R.T. 1382.)

Dr. Golden, who served as the chief odontologist for San Bernardino County, testified for the defense that he received a single photograph of the injury on the victim's right hand. (7 Tr. R.T. 1514, 1520.) He assumed it was a bitemark and could not rule out Richards as the biter. (7 Tr. R.T. 1521, 1528.) Golden also agreed that Richards' under-erupted canine would be found only in "maybe two percent of the population." (7 Tr. R.T. 1537.)

Dean Gialamas, Senior Criminalist with the Los Angeles County Sheriff's Department, testified regarding the blood spatter evidence and disagreed with the conclusion reached by Gregonis. Looking at the blood stains on Richards' shoelaces, Gialamas could not say whether they were the result of transfer or spatter; the stains were consistent with either possibility. (7 Tr. R.T. 1598-1600.) However, he found the presence of only four spots,

all lined up, to be "curious": "Typically, from beating events, very severe beating events, there typically is a lot of exchange of blood spatter from a bleeding source to a perpetrator." (7 Tr. R.T. 1600.) In addition, there was no blood spatter on the shoe itself. (7 Tr. R.T. 1598-99, 1602.) Gialamas also concluded that the stains on Richards' pants were more like transfer stains. (7 Tr. R.T. 1641.) Gialamas testified that he found *no* blood spatter stains on Richards' shirt. All of the stains appeared to be transfer stains. (7 Tr. R.T. 1654, 1657.) Gialamas concluded that the stains on Richards' clothing were *not* consistent with his being Pamela's killer. (7 Tr. R.T. 1659.)

B.

FACTS ADDUCED AT THE EVIDENTIARY HEARING.

1. New DNA Evidence.

a. DNA from a Hair Found under Pamela's Fingernail. Mitochondrial DNA testing of a hair, measuring two centimeters (equal to .787 inches), which had been recovered from amongst blood and debris under one of Pamela's fingernails, determined that this hair did not match the DNA of either Pamela or Richards. Instead, the hair belonged to an unknown third party. (Petition Exh. W [2 A.C.T. 255-60] and Exh. X [2 A.C.T. 262-67], admitted by stipulation [2 R.T. 248; 4 C.T. 991].)

Dr. Patricia Zajac, a consulting criminalist, concluded that the lodged hair was the product of the attack. (2 R.T. 316.) Zajac provided four reasons for her conclusion. First, the length of the hair was such that a person like Pamela, who was a waitress, would normally have noticed and removed it. (2 R.T. 310.²) Second, the crime scene was not a place where one would

Pamela was "on call" the night she was murdered. Each shift, employees were checked to make sure their appearance (including fingernails) were up to standards. (6 Tr. R.T. 1358-59.)

normally find lots of hairs. (2 R.T. 311-12.) Third, the hair was found under, and not just on the nail, so it would take some kind of action to get the hair in the place it was found. (2 R.T. 312.) Fourth, the nature of the crime, i.e., a violent struggle where the victim sustained defensive wounds, made it more likely the hair was lodged during the struggle. (2 R.T. 312-13.)

Dr. Zajac also testified the fact that the hair had a telogen root was not significant. (2 R.T. 314.) Zajac stated that most hair collected as evidence has a telogen, not an anogen, root. (2 R.T. 314.³)

At the hearing, respondent's witness (Gregonis) also admitted that the hair's location under the nail was relevant and that it was more likely that a woman working as a waitress would be more fastidious in her grooming and cleanliness. (2 R.T. 428-29.)

b. DNA from the Murder Weapon. At trial, the prosecution repeatedly took the position that a 12 x 12 x 2" stepping stone found north of Pamela was one of the murder weapons. (1 Tr. R.T. 54; 5 Tr. R.T. 975, 999, 1000, 1004, 1011-11, 1079; 8 Tr. R.T. pp. 1798-99; 8 Tr. R.T. 1807.) Critically, Gregonis believed the cinder block and stepping stone shielded the murderer from blood spatter when used to murder Pamela and explained why Richards' shirt did not have any blood spatter on it. (5 Tr. R.T. 1015.)

In 1994, Gregonis identified three areas on the stepping stone, which he noted were the most likely places to find the perpetrator's DNA. In 2006, those areas were tested by the Department of Justice and STR DNA testing conclusively established that two of these three areas (areas "f" and "c") contained a mixture of the victim's DNA and male DNA. (Prosecution's

An anogen root is living. A telogen root reflects a mature hair that is ready to or has already fallen out. (2 R.T. 313-14.)

Second Amended Return [3 C.T. 698-99, 733-35].) Male DNA contributed as much as one-tenth of the DNA in the area near "f" and one-sixth of the DNA in area "c." (Petition Exh. CC [2 A.C.T. 290-91, 302].) Significantly, the male DNA did *not* belong to Richards. (3 C.T. 698, 699, 733-35.) At the hearing, Gregonis agreed that the ratios of Pamela's DNA and the unknown DNA was consistent with the theory that the unknown male DNA was deposited by the perpetrator. (2 R.T. 439-40.)

Most significantly, Gregonis acknowledged that DNA testing on the stepping stone revealed that DNA not belonging to Richards was found exactly where Gregonis predicted the killer's DNA would be found. (2 R.T. 438.)

Unfortunately, mitochondrial DNA and nuclear DNA cannot be compared so petitioner could not show that the same person was the source of the hair and the DNA on the paving stone. (4 C.T. 995-96.)

2. False Evidence and New Bitemark Evidence.

The photo that Drs. Sperber and Golden used as a basis for their testimony was reexamined by Dr. Sperber and Dr. Golden and two new experts: Dr. Raymond Johansen and Dr. C. Michael Bowers.

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