#### IN THE SUPREME COURT

#### OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SUPREME COURT FILED

JAN 14 2011

WILLIAM RICHARDS,

Petitioner,

υ.

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Respondent,

Case No. **S189275** Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

(San Bernardino Superior Count Case No. SWHSS700444)

(San Bernardino Superior Court Criminal Case No. **FVI00826**)

(Related Appeal Case Nos. **E049135, E024365, E023171, E013944**)

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

After a Decision of the Court of Appeal for the Fourth Appellate District, Division Two, Reversing the Grant of a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus

MICHAEL A. RAMOS,

District Attorney
County of San Bernardino

STEPHANIE H. ZEITLIN

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This case presents no important or novel question of law and highlights no conflict with existing law meriting this Court's intervention. The appellate court's ruling comported with long-established law and

was soundly reasoned. This Court should deny petitioner's Petition for Review.

#### ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW.

Petitioner queries 1) whether an expert's testimony may be considered "false" under Penal Code § 1473(b)(1) if "recanted"; (2) whether the standard outlined in *In re Hall* is applicable to a habeas petition based upon "false" evidence; and (3) whether there must be a consideration of cumulative "new" evidence under *In re Hall*.

The People have consistently asserted that petitioner's queries must be answered in the negative and that the body of habeas law supporting their claim has been firmly established generally and by this Court in its decision in *In re Lawley*. Petitioner's claim that a lower preponderance standard applies is misplaced. **No false evidence was propounded** either at trial or evidentiary hearing. Similarly, petitioner presented **no new evidence** to support his claim for habeas relief. Petitioner, through the course of this litigation, merely repackaged old evidence and attempted to relitigate the jury's findings. Weaknesses presented to and considered by the jury in 1997 are not resurrected by mere relitigation or changed defense strategy.

#### REVIEW IS NOT NECESSARY HERE.

Review is not necessary as this case **does not** present an important question of law or settle a dispute between panels of the court of appeal. (Rule of Court 8.500(b).) Richards' petition presents no more than his wish to revisit and reexamine rulings in the trial court, in the Court of Appeal's opinion in Case Number E049135.

This court does not sit merely to grade the court of appeal's performance or otherwise to "correct" errors that litigants assert lesser courts have made. (*People v. Davis* (1905) 147 Cal. 346, 347-350; 9 Witkin, *California Procedure*, Appeal, § 915 (Lexis 2009 Ed.) This court sits to settle issues of statewide importance and resolve conflicts among court of appeal opinions. (Rule of Court 8.500(b).) This is not such a case. This petition seeks a yet another review of evidentiary questions the appellate court properly resolved against Richards after evaluating the facts presented and the settled law on the issues. No more. In short,

The district courts of appeal are established for the purpose of ascertaining and enforcing, according to the rules of law, the particular right of each case committed to their arbitrament. The state has done its full duty in providing appellate relief for its citizens when it has provided one court to which an appeal may be taken as of right. There is no abstract or inherent right in every citizen to take every case to the highest court. The district courts must be deemed competent to the task of correctly ascertaining the facts from the records before them in each case decided therein, and they should be held solely responsible to that extent for their judgments.

(People v. Davis, supra, at p. 349.)

#### STATEMENT OF PROCEDURAL HISTORY.

On July 6, 1994, Richards' first jury trial began (Vol. I C.T.<sup>1</sup> p. 228). On August 29, 1994, the court declared a mistrial because the jury could not agree on a verdict. (Vol. II C.T. pp. 417-420, 781.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Case Number E024368.

On October 24, 1994, Richards' second trial began (Vol. II C.T. pp. 431-432). Just three (3) days later, the trial court recused itself during voir dire and declared a "mistrial". (C.T. pp. 433, 781.)

On November 15, 1994, Richards' third jury trial began (C.T. p. 438). On January 9, 1995, the court declared a mistrial because the jury was hung **eleven to one in favor of guilt**. (C.T. pp. 474, 871.) As will be shown to be very relevant, no bite mark evidence was introduced at this trial.

On May 29, 1997, Richards' fourth jury trial began. (C.T. p. 532.) On July 8, 1997, he was convicted of murder. (*Id.* at p. 563.)

Richards' previous appellate efforts and requests for habeas corpus relief were unsuccessful. (E049135, C.T. Vol. II pp. 392-418.) In fact, in an opinion the appellate court issued regarding petitioner's direct appeal from his conviction, belief in a sufficient motive was discussed at length. (E049135, C.T. Vol. II p. 410.)

After petitioner's 2007 filing for habeas corpus relief, the cause proceeded to several days of evidentiary hearing and concluded on June 18, 2009. (Vol. IV C.T.<sup>2</sup> p. 1183.) Closing arguments were made on August 10, 2009 and the trial court, from the bench, issued its order immediately thereafter. (Vol. IV C.T. p. 1185.) The trial court found that the various pieces of evidence undermined the People's case and pointed unerringly to petitioner's innocence. (*Id.*)

In response to the lower court's August 10, 2009 order, the People filed a Notice of Appeal under Penal Code § 1506 and a Request for an Immediate Stay at the trial court level on August 20, 2009. (Vol. IV C.T. p. 1187.)

Until further notice, "C.T." refers to the appeal bearing the Case Number E049135 within this section.

The People appealed the ruling to the Court of Appeal after the trial court declined to act on the People's request for an Immediate Stay. (See In re Clark (1993) 5 Cal.4th 750; People v. Gonzalez (1990) 51 Cal.3d 1179; In re Lawler (1979) 23 Cal.3d 190.) On appeal, the People contended that Richards failed to present new evidence to justify habeas relief. Rather, the evidence presented at evidentiary hearing merely rehashed issues already considered throughout the lengthy procedural history of this case. Further, petitioner did not meet his stringent burden of proof by "completely undermining" the "entire structure of the prosecution's case" as required. (People v. Gonzalez (1990) 51 Cal.3d 1179.) Portions of evidence petitioner submitted were of questionable value and methodologies. The People largely asserted that petitioner failed to meet his extremely heavy burden of proof, relied upon "new evidence" claims that considered materials and testimony wellconsidered at his convicting trial and, thus, were not subject to unilateral trial court review, presented experts who relied upon questionable methodologies to support their opinions and/ or did not have sufficient background to offer expert testimony and presented evidence claiming it "exonerated" him when, in reality, it merely caused unjustified distraction for the lower court.

On November 19, 2010, the Court of Appeal agreed with the People. It reversed the trial court's findings in total. Richards now requests review of that decision. The People maintain the appellate court's findings were sound and should stand in their entirety.

#### SUMMARY OF FACTUAL HISTORY.3

On August 10, 1993, William Richards strangled his wife, Pamela Richards, beat her with fist-sized rocks, and crushed her skull with a cinderblock. He was convicted on July 8, 1997 of the murder of his wife, Pamela Richards. He was sentenced on December 4, 1998 to twenty five years to life in prison.

Eleven years later, however, another superior court in San Bernardino granted Richards' habeas corpus relief based on his assertion that "new forensic evidence" meant that his conviction was fatally flawed.

On appeal, the People argued the lower court erred. Rehashed old evidence, speculation regarding the import of recent DNA analyses, misconduct accusations without proof, and changed "expert" opinions do not render Richards "innocent" of his wife's murder. Richards failed to meet his extremely heavy burden of proof of innocence under, e.g., *In re Lawley* (2008) 42 Cal.4th 1231, 1239-1241.

#### SUMMARY OF FACTS AT TRIAL.

By his account, Richards found his dead wife when he got back from work late one evening. (R.T. Vol. III 352:3-18.) He told Sheriff's deputies that he found her naked from waist to ankles, drenched in blood, having lost a large portion of her skull, with one of her eyes hanging from its socket. (R.T. Vol. IV 561:1-9.) Richards called 9-1-1 only after a friend of his wife's urged him to do so. (R.T. Vol. IV 561: 10-28.)

To limit redundancy, the People incorporate the statement of facts contained within the Court of Appeal's opinion in Case Number E049135 and the Statement of Facts contained within Appellant's Opening Brief by reference herein.

When the first Sheriff's deputy, Mark Nourse, arrived, Richards volunteered that his wife was "stone cold. You don't have to go back there and check her. She has been dead a long time." (*Id.* Vol. IV R.T. 589:9-12, 24; 590:2-3, 11-15; 624-625; 640:8, 10; 6/11/97 Vol. IV R.T. 685:21-22, 26, 28.) When Nourse checked Mrs. Richards' corpse for a pulse, however, her arm "just fell down. It went limp." In fact, "her arm felt just like if [he] walked up and picked your arm or someone else's, still alive, not dead." (*Id.* Vol. IV 635:7-8, 10-16; 636:4-5, 7-10.) Mrs. Richards' body was neither warm nor cold. To Nourse, it seemed "very fresh." (*Id.* Vol. IV R.T. 636:11-14, 23, 25.)<sup>4</sup> The blood near her head had the same consistency, wet and damp. It had yet to soak in to the ground. (*Id.* Vol. IV R.T. 638:8-14; 639:3-4.) Nourse noticed the blood there *starting* to be absorbed; it was still wet to the touch. (*Id.* Vol. IV R.T. 638:15-16; 639:3-6.)

Richards told Nourse he had found his wife face down. He had rolled her over. (6/11/97 Vol. IV R.T. 592:24-25.) If, in fact, the victim had died face down, she would have had marks from gravel and the sandy terrain on her chest. (E049135, C.T. Vol. I pp. 119-120.) There were none. (6/10/97 Vol. III R.T. 412:2-10.) Post-mortem abrasions indicated the victim's body had been moved after she died. (*Id.*, Vol. I 120-121; 122:18.)

At the murder scene, Richards' demeanor vacillated from rehearsed calmness to bawling, sobbing, and falling down. (6/11/97 Vol. IV R.T. 627:14-16, 23-24; 628:1-12.) Dep. Nourse started thinking things were

At trial, Dr. Frank Sheridan, the pathologist, testified that it typically takes about <u>two hours for rigor mortis to set in</u>. (E049135, C.T. Vol. I 135: 4-5.) There was no evidence of rigor mortis when first responders arrived.

odd. (*Id.* Vol. IV R.T. 628:11-12.) Richards made him uneasy. (8/29/04 Vol. II 328:15-28.)

Richards told Nourse, "That brick right there, that's the one that killed her, that's what they used to finish her off with" and began to illustrate what he believed to have happened. (Id. Vol. IV R.T. 625:21-27;5 626:1-16.) Richards had peculiar knowledge of the evidence despite the dark conditions of the remote murder scene, "like he had first-hand knowledge." (Id. Vol. IV 645:1-25.) According to Nourse, Richards "stated, pointing, he goes, there's the block that killed her. If he was the one that did it - if he wasn't the one that did it, how did he know that block and not a different one killed her? He explained that her pants were back by a generator, and that there was blood on rocks. It's dark. He stated he had no flashlight. I couldn't even see something as big as a body in a sleeping bag and he is explaining to me where little drops of blood are in the dark. The freshness of the body. Just the many things he was telling me just didn't add up. I was beginning to view him as view the whole thing as something was wrong." (11/30/94 Vol. I R.T. 229:6-21.) Moreover, "[h]e described many things in explicit detail[] that even in the daytime, we had a hard time finding." Richards' thorough

Richards interchangeably referred to the cinderblock as a brick. (12/7/94 Vol. IV R.T. 889:16-18; 6/1/97 Vol. IV R.T. 625:22-23.) The terminology is relevant as Richards later argued the significance of the weapon's name at the evidentiary hearing on the instant petition. (i.e. "stepping stone" vs. "cinderblock.") It was also apparent to Det. Tom Bradford "[t]hat [the] cinderblock that was by her head was used as a stepping stone that led from their motor home area out to --the impression I got was to their shed. There was a series of blocks that acted as stepping stones." (Emphasis supplied.) (12/6/94 Vol. II R.T. 431: 15-24.)

explanation of the crime scene was odd. (6/11/97 Vol. IV 686:21-24; 6/16/97 Vol. V. R.T. 855:4-9.)

When Nourse told Richards to leave the crime scene so as not to disturb it, Richards repeatedly fell to his knees and wailed, "It don't matter any ... all the evidence that relates to this case I already touched and moved trying to figure out how this whole thing happened." (*Id.* Vol. IV R.T. 645:11-21.) At that point, "[i]t seemed like something was seriously wrong." Nourse retrieved a tape recorder to capture Richards' statements. (*Id.* Vol. IV R.T. 645:24-25, 28.)

Sheriff's Criminalist Dan Gregonis found significant<sup>6</sup> evidence of crime scene manipulation. (6/16/97 Vol. V R.T. 1082:28-1083:1-2.) Richards' apparent intimate knowledge of the scene, his dubious responses to law enforcement inquiries, and the crime scene manipulation, made Richards the prime suspect in his wife's murder.

In addition to infliction of the massive injury to her skull, Mrs. Richards also had been strangled. (6/10/97 Vol. III R.T. 354:19-356:22.) The strangulation came first; the blunt-force trauma followed within minutes.<sup>7</sup> (*Id.* Vol. III R.T. 377:13-381:28; 385:6-386:7.)

Petitioner took issue in the Court of Appeal with the State's characterization of manipulation as being "significant". The fact the evidence showed victim's body was moved post mortem, her pants were removed after her head was crushed and her undergarments were removed so as to create the impression of a sexual assault would be, in the People's estimation, "significant".

The order of the atrocities inflicted on Mrs. Richards' person is important, as Richards told Nourse, "That brick right there, that's the one that killed her, that's what they used to *finish her off with*." (*Id.* Vol. IV R.T. 625:21-27; 626:1-16.) Who but the killer or the expert pathologist would come to such a conclusion?

Criminalists discovered a tuft of light blue cotton fibers jammed into a crack in one of the victim's fingernails. (6/16/97 Vol. V R.T. 917:7-918, 921-923.) Those fibers were indistinguishable from the fibers of the shirt Richards was wearing the night of the murder. (*Id.* Vol. V R.T. 923:15-925:21; 92713-15.) Five hairs found in the victim's hands were tested and found to be consistent with the victim's hair. (6/18/97 Vol. VI R.T. 1265.)

There were 30 to 40 bloodstains on the victim's pants, 12 of which consisted of medium energy blood spatter. (6/16/97 Vol. V R.T. 972:13-974:25, 976:21-977:1.) There was no spatter on her bare legs. (Id. Vol. V R.T. 977:7-18.) The findings indicated the victim was wearing her pants when her skull was crushed. (Id. Vol. V R.T. 978:1-7.) Investigators believed that Richards removed his wife's pants after killing her in an apparent attempt to create a sexual assault scenario. A sex kit was performed on Mrs. Richards (whose pants and panties were discovered strewn about). The results were negative for semen or any other evidence of sexual assault. (6/16/97 Vol. V R.T. 915:17-917:5.)

Experts determined that the cinderblock was used to crush Mrs. Richards' head. (*Id.* Vol. V R.T. 975:25-28, 998:8-21.) Medium energy blood spatter was found on Richards' right shoe. (*Id.* Vol. V R.T. 1002:4-1003:12.) There were three medium energy spatter stains on Richards' pants. (*Id.* Vol. V R.T. 1006:14-1009:11.)

Sheriff's homicide investigator Norm Parent and his team found no signs that anyone other than Mr. and Mrs. Richards had been on the property the night of the murder. (6/9/97 Vol. II R.T. 275:7-28, 277:1-28; 278-282.) Parent checked Nourse's patrol car's tires and ascertained where it had been driven. (*Id.* Vol. II R.T. 268:2-28; 269:1-9.) He also

checked the tires of the family cars, a Ford Ranger and a Suzuki Samurai. (*Id.* Vol. II R.T. 269:1-28-270:1-22.) He tracked where they had come up the driveway and stopped. (*Id.*) There were no other tread marks. (*Id.* Vol. II R.T. 268:10-28; 270:1-22.)

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